Roberts v. Trimac
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Transportation Services (Western), Inc. Doc.

*E-FILED: August 28, 2013*

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

DOUGLAS ROBERTS
Plaintiff,

Case No0.C12-05302 HRL

ORDER (1) GRANTING DEFENDANT'S
V. MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY
JUDGMENT; AND (2) DENYING AS

TRIMAC TRANSPORTATION SERVICES| MOOT DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR
(WESTERN), INC, JUDGMENT ON THE PLEA DINGS

Defendant [Re: Docket Nos50, 51]

Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56, defendant Trimac Transportation Services (Wéstern)
(Trimac) moves for partial summary judgment as to plaintiff’s first claim for retideu
California Labor Code § 512(a). Trimac also moves for judgment on the pleading$eaddBr.
Civ. P. 12(c), arguing that plaintiff's §12(a) claim is preepted by the Federal Aviation
Administration Authorization Act. Plaintifbouglas Roberts opposes both motiondl. pArties
have expressly consented that all proceedings in this matter may be heandiinhddjudicated
by the undersigned28 U.S.C8 636(c) and Fed. R. Civ. P. 73. The court has consideeed
moving and responding papers, adlvas he arguments of counsel. Even assuming (without
deciding) that the § 512(a) claim is not preempted, the court finds no basis for tharoaay.
Accordingly, Trimac’s motion for partial summary judgmestgrantecand the motio for
judgment on the pleadings is denied as nfoot.

BACKGROUND
Unless otherwise indicated, the following facts are not disputed.

Trimac is a regulated, fdrire motor carrier authorized by the Federal Motor Carrier Saf

! The court’s rulings on plaintiff's evidentiary objections will be filed in a sepatacument.
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Administration of the U.S. Department of Transportatidtrprovides trucking services to shipper;
in the United States. Air PdactsandChemicals (Air Products$ one of Trimac’s customers.

Air Products manufactures and supplies industrial and specialty gas profiuictac provides its
services to Air Products at Air Products’ Santa Clara facility, i.e.,daisnSanta Clara Branch is
physically located at Air Products’ Santa Clara facility.

Roberts worked for Trimac as a driver from July 2008 through November 2010. For th
most part, he transported nitrogen and argon for Air Products.

Trimac says that throughout Rats’ empoyment, it had aneal and rest break policy that
complied with California law. According to defendant, that policy provides thaerempt
employees who work more than five hours per day are required to take a 30-minttealutgal
period. Additionally, employees who work over 10 hours in a day are required to take a secqd
30-minute duty-free meal period. (Mot., Ex. C (Roberts Depo., Ex. 10)). As discussed more
below, plaintiff disputes that defendant had a meal break policy that compire@alifornia law.

Defendant’s meal break policy was not reduced to writing until sometime iadag
However, Trimac says that its meal break rules were posted at the Santa Cletradbrag
plaintiff's employment. (Mot.Ex. B (Gillit Depo. at 48:16-49:7)). Further, Trimac contends thg
the meal break policy was the same both before and afterittenvpolicy was drafted. (Mot.,

Ex. A (Shaw Depo. at 24:2-9; 26:10-15); Ex. B (Gillit Depo. at 48:16-49:7)).

Copies of Trimac’s meal break policy are signed and acknowledged by emploglees a
kept in the employees’ personnel files. (Mot. Ex. A (Shaw Depo. atZB))4-Plaintiff received
a copy of defendant’s meal break policy, and reviewed and signed the documenEx(Nbt.
(Roberts Depo. at 92-24)).

Plaintiff now contends that Trimac failed to provide him meal breaks in violation of Ca
Labor Code § 512(a). He also seeks relief under Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code 8§ 17200 based on {
alleged meal break violations.

LEGAL STANDARD
A motion for summary judgment should be granted if there is no genuine issue oélmat

fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Fed. R. 68(ap
2
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Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. 242, 247-48 (1986). The movpagty bears the initial

burden of informing the court of the basis for the motion, and identifying portions of the
pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories, admissions, or affidacisdemonstrate the

absence of a triable issue of material faCelotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986). In

order to meet its burden, “the moving party must either produce evidence negassgrarak
element of the nonmoving party’s claim or defense or show that the nonmoving party does n
have enugh evidence of an essential element to carry its ultimate burden of perstiasari a

Nissan Fire & Marine Ins. Co., Ltd. v. Fritz Companies, Inc., 210 F.3d 1099, 1102 (9th Cir. 2(

If the moving party meets its initial burden, the burden shifts to the non-moving party t

produce evidence supporting its claims or defenSegNissan Fire & Marine Ins. Co., Ltd., 210

F.3d at 1102. The non-moving party may not rest upon mere allegations or denials of the ad
party’s evidence, but instead must produce admissible evidence that showsdlgerusme issue
of material fact for trial.Seeid. A genuine issue of fact is one that could reasonably be resolv
in favor of either party. A dispute is “material” only if it could affect the onte of the suit
under the governing law. Anderson, 477 U.S. at 248-49.

“When the nonmoving party has the burden of proof at trial, the moving party need on
point out ‘that there is an absence of evidence to support the nonmoving party’s case.”

Devereaux vAbbey, 263 F.3d 1070, 1076 (9th Cir. 2001) (quoting Celotex Corp., 477 U.S. at

325). Once the moving party meets this burden, the nonmoving party may not rest upon me
allegations or denials, but must present evidence sufficient to demonstratertheg éhgenuine
issue for trial. Id.
DISCUSSION
California employers are prohibited fraamployng anemployee for more than five hours
per day without providing the employee with a meal period of at least 30 minutet.aliza
Code § 512(a); Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, 8 11040(11)(A). Additionally, employers cannot requ

employees to work duringraeal break Brinker Restaurant Corp. v. Super. Ct., 53 @all4904,

1040, 273 P.3d 513, 536-37 (2012An employer satisfies its obligation undeb12(a) if it

“relieves its employees of all duty, relinquishes control ¢leir activities and permits them a
3
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reasonable opportunity to take an uninterrupted 30—minute break, and does not impede or
discourage them from doing sold.

“[A]ln employer may not undermine a formal policy of providing meal breaks by
pressuring employees to perform their duties in ways that omit breaksikeBrb3 Cal.th at
1040, 273 P.3d at 536. But, “[p]Jroof an employer had knowledge of employees working thro
meal periods will not alone subject the employer to liability for premium pay Id. Ratheran
employee must show that the employepeded or discouragede employee from taking breaks.

Id.; Reece v. Unitrin Auto & Home Ins. Co., No. 5:CM/-03960 EJD, 2013 WL 245452 at *5

(N.D. Cal., Jan. 22, 2013).

Roberts contends that Trimac did not have a policy of permittingrdrto take meal
breaks--andtha, if anything, the company’s policy was to discourage drivers from doing so. |
emphasizethat Trimac had no formal written policy until 1&2608. ‘However,under California
law, the absence of a formal written polabyes not constitute a violation of the meal and rest

period.” Green v. Lawrence Service Cdlo. LA CV1206155 JAK, 2013 WL 3907506 at *8

(C.D. Cal., July 23, 2013). Mdoes it “necessarily imply the existence of a uniform policy or
widespread practice of either depriving these emplogkaseal and rest periods or requiring ther

to work during those periodaws.” 1d. (quoting Dailey v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 214 Cal.

App.4th 974, 1001-02, 154 Cal. Rptr.3d 480 (2013)). Moreowsdjstussedbove,Trimacs
human resources and managerial persamséfied thatthe compang meal break rules were
posted at the Santa Clara branchmyplaintiff's employmenand that theneal break policy was
the same both before and after thiemal written policy was drafted(Mot., Ex. A (Shaw Depo. at
24:2-9; 26:10-15); Ex. B (Gillit Depo. at 48:16-49:7)).

Plaintiff neverth&sspoints to an April 2007 Trimac U.S. Employee Handbook

Handbook), which contains the following provision:

All full -time employeesgxcept Company drivers, are provided with

one meal period each workday. Supervisors will schedule meal
periods to accommodate operating requirements. Employees will be
relieved of all active responsibilities and redtons during meal
periods and will not be compensated for that time.
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(Ross Decl{ 3, Ex. A) (emphasis addedjle positsthat this document shows that, prior to the
preparation of itormal written policy, Trima@xpressly excludgdrivers fromits meal break
policy. However, according tomkelisa ShawTrimac’s Director of U.S. Human Resows and
Retention, the Handboaokas intended to be a general guideline for all Trimac employees, driv
and non-drivers alike. Shaw avers taversare excluded from the Handbook'gal guidelines
becaus€l) driversare subject to other rules and regulations (i.e., by the U.S. Department of
Transportation) as to meal breaks; and (2) due to the nature of their work, drivarbreaks are
not scheduled by their supervisors. (Repky H (Shaw Decl{ 5). This assertion is corroborated
by the Handbook itself, which states that it “is intended to provide employees gatteeal
understanding of [Trimac’s] personnel policies,” and that it “cannot anticipatg situation or
answerevery question about employmentld.( Handbook Section 101). Further, Shaw avers
that a state’s requirements are handled at the branch l&¥¢l° Roberts has presented no
evidence to refute Shaw’s testimony.

Roberts next argues that Trimawstten meal policydoes not comply with Brinkes’
timing requirementbecausdét does not sathat the first meal period must takeqg# within the
first five hours and does not provide for a second break no later than ten hours aftet tiest

shift. All Brinkerrequires is that the first meal period s&fter no more than five hours, i.e., no

later than the start of an employee’s sixth hour of work. 53 Cal.4th at 1041, 273 P.3d at 537
Review of Trimats plicy shows that ipermits employees to takieeir meal break at any time
before their shitend includingwithin the first fve hours of work. (Mot. Ex. C (Roberts Depo.,
Ex. 10). Moreover, the policy does provide for a second meal period for employees who wol
more than 10 hours.d)).

Plaintiff maintans that Trimac’s policy impedes or discourages breaksuseamployees
are offereda break only itheir shift isat least five hours in length-e goes on to express concerr

that because drivers’ shifts have no predetermined end time, a driver would not know at the

% The court finds that Shaw is qualified to testify about Trimac’s U.S. Emplogedhbdok and
employment policieand practicesPlaintiff’'s objectons to thecited portions ofher declaration
are overruled.
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beginning of his shift whether or not he would be entitled to a break. In plaintifiis Vremac’s
policy therefore is flawed because “[i]t is mathematically impossible for a brdak poovided
within the first five hours of a shift if the emplag/is not entitled to a break until after working
five hours.” (Opp. at 5). These arguments fail to convince. To begin, despite his professed
concerns about possibly working less than five hours per day (and not getting agakpalr
indications are that Roberts worked more than five hours per day. (Reply Ex. d¢Rspo. At
78:15416) (plaintiff's testimonythat heusually worked five or six days per week); (Docket No. 1
Complainty 11 (alleging that Roberts worked 60-70 hours per week); (Reply, Ex. | (EEMdwrt
Ex. 1) (plaintiff's spreadsheet documenting the regular and overtime hours he say&dx
betweerOctober 2008 and May 2010). And, discussed alve, Trimac pernms employees to
take a meal break at atigne before their shifts endhcluding within the first five hours of their
shift. Roberts points to nothing in the policy requiring an employee towvaitafter working for
five houss before taking a first bad.

Notwithstanding what defendant’s written poligys,plaintiff claimsthatTrimac’s actual
policy isto discourage meal breaks.e Bhys thatwhen he was hired, he received no training abg
Trimac’s meal policy; that defendant merely gave lip service to the written patidyhat
defendant provided easg-eat snacks so that drivers could eat in their trucks while working,
instead of taking a meal breale also testified that he believed that Trimac wanted drivers to
completetheir workas quickly as possibknd thatdue to time pressures of the job, he did not
think he could take meal breaks. (Mot. Ex. C (Roberts Depo. at13}.6Additionally, Roberts
says that Trimac never disciplined employeeddiling to take a mal break and never checked
trip records to see if any driver actually took meal breaks.

This last point is easily disposed of: an “employer is not obligated to policeoneais
and ensure no work thereafter is performeBrinker, 53 Cal.4th at 1040, 273 P.3d at 537.
Additionally, for the reasongdiscussedmore fully below, “[dlefendanits liability cannot be
established by showing a failure to convey a formal policy regardingtean employee.”
Green 2013 WL 3907506 at *8.

The problem for [aintiff is that he has provided m@mpetenevidence to support his
6
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assertions His subjective beliefs about Trimac’s actual poliegnain jist that. SeeVilliarimo v.

Aloha Island Air, Inc, 281 F.3d 1054, 1061 (9th Cir. 2002) (“[T]his court has refused to find a

‘genuine issue’ where the only evidence presented is ‘uncorroborated asergeify
testimony.).

Indeed, Roberts himself testified that no one at Trimac ever (1) told him that in@tvas
allowed to take a meal break; (2) said anything to give him the impression that the gaiighan
not want him to take meal breaks; or (3) said anything to give him the impressionirtet'3
actual policy was different than its written policy. (Mot., Ex. Ci{&ts Depo. at 68:22-24;
89:11-22; 94:6-24)). Whilplaintiff says that he did not take meal breaks because of time
pressures at work, he testified that he had time to take both meal breaks and thabheetting
every day that he worked. (Mot. Ex. C (Roberts Depo. at 91:4-92:4); Ex. E (Roberts Depo. at
52:7-9)). Moreover, plaintiff never complained to anyone at Trimac that he wasl@ob dake
meal breaks. (Mot. Ex. E (Roberts Depo. at 67:25-68:7, 101:9-18)).

Citing to the deposition testimony Blan O’Connor, Trimac’s Santa Clara branch
manager, plaintiff asserts that defendant’s “training . . . did not offer newnh@aisbreaks within
the first five hours of a shift.” (Opp. at 4). The cited testimony does not supporssbaian.
When asked how employees are trained about Trimac’s meélfwkeies, O’Connor testified
thathe went ovethosepoliciesduring the interview process. (Mot. Ex. D (O’Connor Depo. at
77:3-19)). In the portions of testimony cited by Roberts, all O’Connor said was tthial et
encouragemployees to take meal breaks during “any specific time frame” because “[igll shi
were differenf’ and he did not recall that Trimac had a “training module” about lunch brelaks. ((
(O’'Connor Depo. at 77:20-23, 78:11)14

Next, Roberts points to the deposition of Jerry Hartman, an Air Products empléyee, w
testified thatAir Products expected Trimacdrivers tanake their deliveries bggiven estimated
time of arrival (ETA). Plaintiff says that Hartman went on to testify tiAat Products did not allot
time for breaks when seluling the ETAs. When asked if Air Products “schedula[tin€ for a
meal break, Haman said'No.” (Ross Decl., Ex. E (Hartman Depo. at 33)%- This testimony

indicatesthat Air Products did not set arpaular time for meal break But rothing inHartmarns
7
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testimonysuggests that meal breaks were prohibited or discourdigeshy event,

notwithstanding plaintiff’sassertiongbout his wdk schedule, as discussed above, he testified tk
hehad time to takéoth meal breaks and that he ate something every day that he worked. (M
Ex. C (Roberts Depo. at 91:4-92:4); Ex. E (Roberts Depo. at 8p:7-

The overwhelming evidence of record isttii@amacnot only provided the requisite meal
breaks, but also encourageiployees to take thenmfs discussed above, O’Connor testified tha
he covered Trimac’s meal break policy during the interview process. (Mot. EXJDr§nor
Depo. at 77:3-19)). Additionally, Bob Penicks, a Trimac employee who trained Robersts, a

that he “always tell[s]hi]s trainees to take a lunch break any time they feel they need one.”

nat

ot.

[

(Reply Ex. GPenicks Decl] 16). He recalls telling Roberts the same thing and that the “loading

process provides a good opportunity to do séd:  18). Defendant’s unrefuted evidence also
establisheshat Trimac provided a room drivers to use for their breaks; O’Connor encouraged
drivers daily to take breaks and lunches; and O’Connor personally bought food, such as
sandwiches, fruit, and cocday drivers“[b]ecause | want myrivers to take lunches and breaks,
and because they need to egiMot, Ex. D (O’Connor Depo. at 80:13-19, 87:17-8§8Ex. E
(Roberts Depo. at 45:1-46)1

Roberts has not presented a genuine issue of material fact that Trimac failmddelpm
with required meal breaks, or that defendant prevented or discouraged him from taking those
breaks. Accordinglydefendant’s motion for summary judgment is granted as to plaintiff's first
claim for relief under California Labor Code § 512(a). Defendant’'s motion is i@ated as to
plaintiff's fourth claim for relief under Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, to the extentldim is

based on the alleged meal break violations.
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ORDER
Based on the foregoing, Trimac’s motifmm partial summary judgment is gradte
Trimac’s motion for judgment on the pleadings is denied as moot.
SO ORDERED.
Dated: August 28, 2013
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5:12cv-05302HRL Notice has been electronically mailed to:

Christopher ChatiicNatt , Jr cmcnatt@scopelitis.com, mlazo@scopelitis.com
Christopher James Eckhart  ceckhart@scopelitis.com, nberry@scopelitis.com
Megan E. Ross mross@michaeltracylaw.com

Michael Lion Tracy mtracy@michaeltracylaw.com, calendar@michaeltracgaw
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